
TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 1 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

In attendance: Tracie Adams - Chair, Tom Gauthier, Tim Kachmar, Jared Hardner, Chris Yates, 1 
and Will Ludt (remote) 2 
Staff in attendance: Nic Strong, Community Development Director; and Kristan Patenaude – 3 
Recording Secretary (remote)  4 
Also in attendance: Steve Whitman, Resilience Planning & Design, and Bill Stoughton 5 
 6 

1. Call to Order 7 
Tracie Adams called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm and introduced the members. She explained 8 
that the draft Master Plan was presented to the Planning Board for the first time on August 17, 9 
2022. Plenty of good comments, suggestions, and questions were received. She thanked the 10 
Master Plan Steering Committee for its support throughout this process and also for attendance at 11 
the Planning Board meeting. There were five out of seven members in attendance, showing that 12 
the group is a team and supportive of the process.  13 
 14 

2. Discuss edits from Planning Board meeting (see attached matrix) 15 
Steve Whitman reviewed the matrix with the group. Many of the items are fairly straightforward. 16 
The first major suggestion is regarding the relationship of the survey results to the Master Plan 17 
and needing to express how much interest there was in certain items. Jared Hardner offered as a 18 
potential solution that a short overview be provided in the Introduction of the Master Plan.  19 
 20 
Jared Hardner stated that it might be helpful to include a bar chart or graph showing some of the 21 
important survey results, such as top priorities, in the Introduction of the document.  This could 22 
help to present that information in different ways and make it a little more granular. He hopes 23 
that this might help readers to remember that they weighed in on these topics and then see that 24 
reflected in the document. Readers could then also view the full set of results in an appendix of 25 
the document. 26 
 27 
Steve Whitman stated that this could be added in the Community Engagement section. This 28 
suggestion will emphasize the survey over all the other community engagement events the 29 
Committee had. Jared Hardner stated that he believes the group received more participation in 30 
the survey than through any of the other events.  31 
 32 
Tracie Adams stated that Arnie Rosenblatt confirmed that he would like to see the survey results 33 
reflected throughout the document as well. 34 
 35 
Bill Stoughton, 11 Pine Top, stated that he viewed this suggestion through the lens of being able 36 
to implement items within the Master Plan. He thinks it will be important to show how many 37 
people answered affirmatively in the survey to the items included in the Master Plan, as well as 38 
showing if there are items in the Master Plan that were not heavily supported in the survey and 39 
why those are now being included. He believes there are some pet projects included in the 40 
Master Plan, which is fine, but he would also like to see visualized the degree of public support 41 
behind the items included.  42 
 43 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 2 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

Tracie Adams stated that some of the other concerns brought up by the Planning Board were 44 
softening the language for implementation to make it clear that these items are not being dictated 45 
but are items that the Town could consider in the future and that other communities are doing. 46 
 47 
Steve Whitman stated that his only issue with hanging on the survey so heavily is that a lot of the 48 
questions couldn't have anticipated the things that were raised. He will try to connect items in the 49 
Master Plan back to the survey results but not everything is going to connect clearly. It is not an 50 
insignificant amount of time that will be needed to do this, and there’s not necessarily a linear 51 
connection between the survey and the Plan. 52 
 53 
Jared Hardner suggested that there be an extra line included in the existing tables stating what 54 
supporting evidence there is for inclusion, or whether this is being included due to the 55 
consultant’s recommendation, or if this is a best practice seen in another community. He believes 56 
that the Planning Board needs more information in the Plan as to what the basis of a 57 
recommendation is before they can implement it. The Plan needs to be transparent if an item is 58 
being included due to a recommendation from the consultant.  59 
 60 
Steve Whitman stated that no recommendations from the consultant were included in the Plan 61 
without first being vetted by this Committee. Jared Hardner stated that the wording might then be 62 
that these items were committee suggestions based on best practices in other municipalities. 63 
 64 
Chris Yates stated that the Committee did not have the opportunity to have some larger 65 
community engagements and have smaller groups vet out some of these items, due to COVID-19 66 
and time constraints. Thus, the consultants brought the Committee certain recommendations that 67 
other towns are doing for possible inclusion. In the future, there should be subcommittees to 68 
further explore these ideas.  69 
 70 
Jared Hardner stated that he believes this will be addressed in the second round of comments 71 
from the Planning Board, which looks to soften the implementation language within the Plan 72 
from ‘should do’ to ‘can explore further.’  73 
 74 
Chris Yates stated there needs to be some ‘go do’s’ in the Plan. He is concerned that the Town is 75 
going to be left with a prettier version of the previous Master Plan document without them.  76 
 77 
Steve Whitman stated that the overarching direction from the Planning Board was to use 78 
language such as ‘examine’ and ‘consider’ over ‘should do.’  79 
 80 
Chris Yates stated that, as an elected Planning Board member, he believes there needs to be ‘go 81 
do’ language included. Jared Hardner stated that there are currently three Planning Board 82 
members in the room, and he would like some direction as to how the Committee should best 83 
move forward on this item.  84 
 85 
Chris Yates stated that he has a concern regarding actions further down the road if all of the 86 
‘should do’ language is removed. 87 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 3 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

 88 
Bill Stoughton stated that his concern with the Implementation Matrix, in particular, is the use of 89 
mandatory language, ‘go do this,’ ‘you should do this,’ etc. The concern is that the Planning 90 
Board does not have the ability both through funding and time to complete all of these items. He 91 
would like the Master Plan to be realistic and to prioritize certain items. He is okay if the 92 
Committee wants to recommend that certain implementation items are really important and 93 
should be prioritized, versus being told that all of the items must be completed. Therefore, he 94 
would like to see the words ‘consider’ and ‘evaluate’ used. Ultimately, the Master Plan is not a 95 
decision document, but using soft language and recommending that certain items be evaluated 96 
makes sense.  97 
 98 
Chris Yates agreed with softening some of the language but considering leaving in some priority 99 
items that the Committee feels strongly about. Tim Kachmar agreed with this suggestion to leave 100 
some items to highly recommend that the Board consider implementing in the future. 101 
 102 
Bill Stoughton stated that his intention with this suggestion was to help better understand what 103 
the Town's top priorities are.  104 
 105 
Tim Kachmar suggested that the Committee could pick five items from the Implementation 106 
Matrix, relating back to the top priorities seen from the survey, and recommend those for future 107 
action by the Board.  108 
 109 
Jared Hardner suggested that the matrix could be revised to include a section showing the top 110 
things the public wanted per the survey and how the Master Plan correlates with that, and then a 111 
second section of the top things the Committee would recommend going forward and how the 112 
Master Plan correlates with those.  He stated that this should be easier to manage and would 113 
satisfy the Planning Board Chair’s concern with having too many resource intensive things listed 114 
that, if they were not completed, could lead to questions from people asking why they were not 115 
done.  Jared Hardner said that there could be a third category of items that have softer wording 116 
so that they were not lost from the plan but did not have the same strength as the top priorities.  117 
 118 
Chris Yates stated that there are some recommendations that the consultant has made that other 119 
communities are doing that may require exploratory committees to go examine further. People 120 
generally don’t know what they don’t know, until it’s brought to their attention. 121 
 122 
Steve Whitman asked if he should soften the text throughout the document to ‘evaluate’ and 123 
‘consider.’ Tracie Adams confirmed that the language throughout the document should be 124 
softened. The Committee will then provide three topics regarding the survey result priorities, 125 
recommendations from the Steering Committee, and other things that are worthy of 126 
consideration. She noted that Tim Kachmar suggested titling this section “Future 127 
Considerations,” instead of the “Implementation Matrix.” 128 
 129 
Steve Whitman stated that the next concern voiced by the Planning Board was regarding 130 
accuracy of data in the Plan. He explained that Jared Hardner and Zak Brohinsky have worked to 131 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 4 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

assure accuracy of the natural resource information in the Existing Conditions section. The data 132 
related to the American Community Survey and the 2020 Census can be updated as well. 133 
 134 
Jared Hardner explained that he reviewed the percentages of land allocation in Town and 135 
realized that there was a GIS error in the Plan’s table which had neighboring towns owning a 136 
third of the Town’s land. The allocation and associated percentage data has been fixed.  137 
 138 
Steve Whitman stated that the next Planning Board comment dealt with transit system 139 
alternatives and transportation management. This item was requested to be removed entirely 140 
from page 26 of the Plan. Tracie Adams stated that Arnie Rosenblatt noted this item was too 141 
ambitious and he would recommend removing it. The Committee agreed with this suggestion. 142 
 143 
Steve Whitman stated that the next comment deals with the Complete Streets policy mentioned 144 
on page 25. The suggestion is to soften the language from “should be adopted.” This Complete 145 
Street policy item came from the Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee (BPAC). It's a very 146 
common idea in New Hampshire right now, with even the NHDOT suggesting Complete Streets 147 
policies.  148 
 149 
Tim Kachmar suggested that the language be changed to suggest following State and federal 150 
guidance for multimodal policies. He stated that buzzwords are often replaced quickly, and this 151 
could be an issue for a 10-year Master Plan. EPA controls could also be mentioned. 152 
 153 
Chris Yates noted that he believes the Town is currently working towards implementing a 154 
Complete Streets policy through small scale projects, while not yet having adopted an actual 155 
policy. Tim Kachmar noted that his concern is with using the buzzword “Complete Streets.”  156 
 157 
Jared Hardner stated that he believes there has been an ongoing process for several years and 158 
certain items, such as the Multimodal Plan, have been already consulted on and endorsed. He 159 
would like to make sure that these items are not lost within the Master Plan, but that it is clear 160 
that any new and not yet endorsed items will be carefully considered and examined in the future 161 
before implementation. He stated that he believes the groups, such as BPAC, should be consulted 162 
for additional language to be included. Steve Whitman stated that these groups were already 163 
consulted and the language they suggested is included in the document, “Future road 164 
improvements should be planned for by documenting them in the Road Improvement schedule 165 
and Capital Improvement planning process.”  166 
 167 
Chris Yates stated that he wants to make sure the Plan contains language that supports the 168 
potential State and federal grants for multimodal projects which the Town may want to apply for 169 
in the future. Steve Whitman stated that this language was received from the BPAC and was 170 
placed in the document. Will Ludt agreed that certain language needs to be placed in the Master 171 
Plan for grant application purposes, noting that the Heritage Commission has previously run into 172 
the same problem with applying for grants if the appropriate language is not listed in the Master 173 
Plan.  174 
 175 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 5 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

Chris Yates asked if the language in the Plan, if softened, will still support potential grant 176 
applications for multimodal projects. Steve Whitman stated that he thinks it would. Chris Yates 177 
stated that he previously spoke with Chris Buchanan, Chair of BPAC, regarding the specific 178 
language he would like included in the Plan. He noted that there should be a balance between the 179 
‘should’ language and the knowledge that the Town cannot redo all of its roads in the same 180 
manner. Steve Whitman explained that the last section of language mentions that “the Town-181 
wide network could then be expanded in a gradual and cost-effective manner also adding new 182 
segments or retrofitting existing segments when scheduled improvements or development 183 
occurs.” Steve Whitman expressed concern with heavily editing the document based on Planning 184 
Board suggestions, only to have the Committee decide that these are priority items it would like 185 
to see included.  186 
 187 
Jared Hardner stated that Tim Kachmar is part of a constituency in Town that may be surprised 188 
by and not like the language in this section of the Plan. He believes BPAC needs to be consulted 189 
regarding the exact language that is needed. Tim Kachmar stated that he believes the language 190 
should state that the Town supports following State and federal transportation guidelines and 191 
recommendations, instead of throwing out certain buzzwords and specific programs. He does not 192 
want the document to be out-of-date in a few years depending on elections and changes in the 193 
government. 194 
 195 
Chris Yates stated that, in speaking with Chris Buchanan a few months ago, it seemed that 196 
BPAC was seeking grant funding of somewhere around $5-10M. He does not want to lose those 197 
opportunities because the Town cannot point back to supporting language in the Master Plan.  198 
 199 
Tim Kachmar stated that he hopes all of that grant money gets approved by Town vote, as 200 
opposed to the Committee simply implementing all of those changes.  201 
 202 
Steve Whitman asked if he should have BPAC review pages 24-27 of the Plan to identify items 203 
that are currently underway and those which are proposed items where language could be 204 
softened. Tracie Adams agreed with this and stated that the language needs to be supportive of 205 
the grants but not overstep boundaries. The grants are important, so the supportive language 206 
needs to be included.  207 
 208 
Jared Hardner noted that the average citizen cannot keep up to date with all that is going on in 209 
Town. He believes BPAC should be consulted to make sure the language in the Plan is clear to 210 
prevent unnecessary confusion that something new is being introduced when there has actually 211 
been a long process behind it which is not new at all. 212 
 213 
Steve Whitman stated that the next comment was in regard to the study of recreational resources 214 
in Town. This is an item which came directly from the Rec Department and was backed up by 215 
the survey results. Tim Kachmar stated that he supports the idea of softening the language in this 216 
section and relating it back to the survey data. Tracie Adams referred back to the survey results. 217 
She stated that question #6 regarding recreational infrastructure resulted in it being a highest 218 
priority for 32% and high priority for  41%, for a total of 73% of the respondents.  219 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 6 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

 220 
Steve Whitman stated that the next comment addresses softening the language that asset 221 
management software should be purchased. This is an industry best practice now for 222 
communities building and maintaining buildings. Many communities are far behind this best 223 
practice, so this is a new idea to many. Tracie Adams agreed with softening this language and 224 
potentially listing some of the other local communities which use the software. 225 
 226 
Steve Whitman stated that the next comment was in regard to language on page 35 which states, 227 
“Clarify that the findings of the buildout analysis highlighted that the current regulations may not 228 
guide future development in a way that creates the pattern of development and open space 229 
protection residents expressed interest in and is identified in the Vision.” This wording can be 230 
reworked to match the Vision statement. He explained that, based on the number of changes 231 
being made throughout the document, this may be a very different document once the edits are 232 
made. 233 
 234 
Steve Whitman stated that the language will be further softened in the form-based code section. 235 
This is an item that was not originally in the survey but came through research with the 236 
Committee and consultant. Tracie Adams stated that there needs to be more language regarding 237 
what this is and other communities that are using it. Steve Whitman stated that a Selectman 238 
asked that the language currently included describing form-based code be removed from the 239 
document.  240 
 241 
In response to a question from Chris Yates, Steve Whitman stated that this is a new form of 242 
zoning which became a best practice starting around 2010. It is different from the Euclidean 243 
form of zoning most towns were using. This does not have to occur all throughout Town to start. 244 
It is based on building placement, massing, and design over use. It is supposed to be visual and 245 
easier for people to understand.  246 
 247 
Steve Whitman stated that the language regarding Economic Revitalization Zones (ERZs) and 248 
transition areas can also be softened. Language regarding looking at the intersections of the 249 
zoning districts and determining if changes are needed can be added.  250 
 251 
Steve Whitman stated that page 45 language will be clarified to state that the build out analysis 252 
did not indicate how much growth will occur but looked at where growth would occur in the 253 
community. The recommendation regarding Planned Residential Developments (PRDs) will be 254 
removed from page 44 and the following language will be inserted, “modifications of zoning 255 
may be investigated to ensure open space preservation.” References to mixed-use throughout the 256 
document will also be softened. He noted that there was a Planning Board comment regarding 257 
the word ‘audit’ in the matrix. The term can be further described, and the recommendation can 258 
be softened. On page 48, there was a question regarding how to track the results of a Master 259 
Plan. Arnie Rosenblatt suggested leaving it to the Planning Board to determine how best to do 260 
this. A best practice can be included for this item, but there is often not enough staff, the 261 
Planning Board doesn't make it a priority, or there isn't an Implementation Committee involved 262 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 7 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

in order to see it through. An Implementation Committee is a suggestion included in the Master 263 
Plan.  264 
 265 
Tom Gauthier suggested removing the language regarding an Implementation Committee and 266 
stating that the Planning Board will determine a committee to best track the progress of the 267 
Master Plan. This will place the accountability on the Planning Board for this item.  268 
 269 
Steve Whitman stated that there is a suggestion on page 49 to change the word ‘implementation’ 270 
to ‘recommendation.’ Any references to ‘implementation’ elsewhere in the document can also be 271 
changed. 272 
 273 
Jared Hardner noted a potential GIS change to the document. He explained that every plot of 274 
land in Town is currently listed in a category. Many of the properties listed as agriculture are 275 
forests that have been unused for a number of years. If one looks at the pie chart of these 276 
categories, it looks as though the Town has a lot of active agriculture/tree farms/etc., when this 277 
may not actually be the case. This change would help to properly manage and track these 278 
properties.  Currently, this gives a wrong impression that there's a lot more active agriculture, 279 
non-forestry agriculture than is actually occurring in the community. Tim Kachmar asked if this 280 
should be a future recommendation for a committee to scope this item further. Steve Whitman 281 
suggested that a caveat could be added to these numbers in the Plan. Jared Hardner stated that he 282 
would review the largest properties listed incorrectly and send them to Steve Whitman.  283 
 284 
Steve Whitman stated that the last recommendation from the Planning Board is to drop all 285 
columns in the Recommendation Table, except for the actual recommendations. 286 
 287 

3. Discuss edits from Tom Gauthier re: school information (see attached 288 
enrollment reports and narrative) 289 

Tom Gauthier explained that the Future Needs and Projects paragraph has been reworded to 290 
highlight and expand the work of the Joint Facilities Advisory Committee (JFAC). It is important 291 
to expand this section, as a majority of tax dollars go toward the schools. New school projection 292 
and enrollment data was also submitted. He explained that 724 students are slated for Clark 293 
Wilkins School this year. The new enrollment figures predict pre-K-4 at 706 students, versus the 294 
old numbers which predict 662. This is off by a factor of 10%. There has been an influx of new 295 
families. There are now 19-20 students predicted per kindergarten class.  296 
 297 
In response to a question from Jared Hardner regarding at which thresholds at which one starts to 298 
get concerned about growth, Tom Gauthier stated that this is still being studied. Room studies 299 
are currently being completed. One idea that has been discussed is using the High School Annex 300 
for middle school classrooms, so a facility study is being completed at the High School to audit 301 
the classrooms. The concern seems to be that if another two classes are added at Clark Wilkins, it 302 
could become a space issue.  303 
 304 
In response to a question from Jared Hardner regarding whether this growth is due to new homes 305 
or changes in demographics of existing homes, Tom Gauthier stated that it is likely a 306 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 8 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

combination of both. The people who are working on this graph know how many potential 307 
houses are in the pipeline for the Town.  308 
 309 
Jared Hardner asked what the expected range for new houses will be over the new few years. 310 
Tracie Adams stated that many of the proposed developments have only come before the 311 
Planning Board for conceptual ideas so far. Only one development of up-to 25 units, is currently 312 
before the Board with an application. Jared Hardner stated that if the proposed range of new 313 
homes in the next 10 years is somewhere between 0-400, a sensitivity analysis will be needed in 314 
order to know what the thresholds are.  315 
 316 
Chris Yates explained that Nic Strong sends requests to departments for input during each new 317 
Planning Board application for development, and he does not recall once that the school board 318 
has sent back comments.  319 
 320 
Jared Hardner explained that cumulative impacts cannot be managed on a one-off basis. These 321 
need to be put in context with a projection and sensitivity analysis to make informed decisions. 322 
 323 
Tom Gauthier stated that he would address this directly with Steve Chamberlin, Interim 324 
Superintendent. He noted that he would also like the last sentence regarding options for the Brick 325 
School to be removed. Will Ludt suggested that the Brick School also be reviewed for the JFAC 326 
in its facilities study.  327 
 328 
Tracie Adams asked that the word “unfortunately” be removed from the school information 329 
submission.  330 
 331 
Steve Whitman addressed adding the survey results to the Appendix. Tim Kachmar suggested 332 
that there be a link so that people can view the entire survey results, including the answers to all 333 
of the open-ended questions.  334 
 335 
Jared Hardner stated that some of the comments to the open-ended questions were not fit for civil 336 
discourse. Some did not truly tie to the survey itself, some were overtly racist, and some had 337 
people’s direct names included. He does not want these items validated. Chris Yates noted that 338 
the full survey results, including all of these open-ended answers are currently available through 339 
the Envision Amherst website. 340 
 341 
Jared Hardner suggested that PDFs of the Excel pages be included in the Appendix. 342 
 343 
Steve Whitman stated that the Library submitted a number of changes to be addressed. Some 344 
asked why the Library is not covered under the Recreational Facilities section and other areas of 345 
the document that the Library should be mentioned. The Committee agreed that Steve Whitman 346 
could review the suggestions from the Library and then run any suggested changes by Nic 347 
Strong.  348 
 349 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
August 23, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 9 of 9  Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 
 

Will Ludt noted that he has a couple of items still to draft comments on and would forward them 350 
separately to Steve Whitman.  351 
 352 

4. Timeline for updating draft 353 
Steve Whitman stated that an updated draft will be created in the next 3-4 weeks and brought 354 
before the Committee again. Zak Brohinsky is currently on a leave of absence. Steve Whitman 355 
will work with Nic Strong to identify potential dates in October for the Committee to meet again.  356 
 357 
Tracie Adams stated that she will talk to Arnie Rosenblatt about updating the Planning Board on 358 
progress at its second meeting in September. 359 
 360 
Steve Whitman stated that the Committee had been offered  some additional photos of wildlife 361 
for potential inclusion in the plan.  He stated that the Planning Board meeting was an 362 
endorsement of the work done by the Committee.  He noted that he and Liz Kelly would 363 
experiment with their publishing program, InDesign, to see if they can provide a redlined 364 
document.  365 

 366 
5.  Next steps towards public hearing 367 

This was previously addressed. 368 
 369 

6.  Approval of minutes of July 26, 2022 370 
Approval of these minutes was tabled to the next meeting. 371 
 372 

7.  Old / New business 373 
None at this time. 374 
 375 

Tim Kachmar moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:01pm. Seconded by Chris Yates. 376 
Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 377 
 378 
 379 

 380 
Respectfully submitted, 381 
Kristan Patenaude 382 
 383 
Minutes approved: September 22, 2022 384 


